RECEIVED

Mar 09 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Laurens County

Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

CAMRIN JAY SMITH,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2025-001288

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter when there was evidence to support the charge?

2.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by excluding evidence that Appellant was initially charged with involuntary manslaughter, not murder, pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE, where the evidence was relevant to and probative of the integrity of the investigation and whether Appellant acted with malice, was not misleading or confusing to the jury, and was not unfairly prejudicial to the state, and where exclusion of the evidence violated Appellant's constitutional rights to present a complete defense and cross-examine the witnesses against him?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Laurens County grand jury indicted Appellant on November 22, 2024, for two counts of murder, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and unlawful possession of a sawed off rifle. R. * (Indictments). His case was called to trial on June 9, 2025, before the Honorable Kirk Griffin, and a jury. Tr. 1. Assistant Solicitors Elizabeth Finch, Mary-Madison Driggers, and Cameron Cleveland represented the state. Madison Johnston and Jake Erwin represented Appellant. Tr. 1.

On June 13, 2025, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. Tr. 536, ll. 12-21. He was sentenced to forty-five years for murder, five years for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and ten years for unlawful possession of a sawed off rifle. Tr. 544, l. 22 – 545, l. 3.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and Grace Ables, the decedent, began dating in 2016 while the two were in high school. Tr. 460, ll. 13-21. They dated for nearly seven years and were engaged at the time of Grace's death on November 25, 2023. Tr. 462, ll. 4-8. Grace's sister, Crystal Ables, described Appellant and Grace's relationship as "happy." She acknowledged that the two had arguments, but such arguments were "natural in any relationship." Tr. 379, ll. 9-21.

After graduating high school, Appellant and Grace lived together, often with roommates. However, at some point in 2022, their then roommate moved out of the two bedroom home they shared because Appellant and Grace "were trying to conceive a baby" and they needed the second bedroom for the nursery. Tr. 372, l. 9 – 374, l. 13. At the time of Grace's death, she was twenty-eight weeks pregnant with a baby girl the couple planned to name Scarlet.¹ Tr. 236, ll. 6-9; Tr. 361, ll. 4-14.

Appellant had a hobby of collecting and shooting firearms. He began handling firearms around 2018 when he was nineteen years old. Tr. 300, ll. 9-14. On November 25, 2023, the day Grace died, Appellant's father came over to the couple's home to shoot firearms with Appellant. Appellant owned nine firearms at the time.² He and his father "shot for a couple hours" until his father left around 4:30 or 5:00 pm. After his father left, Appellant "gathered up all [his] guns"

¹ Grace's obstetrician-gynecologist testified that ultrasounds completed when Grace was twenty and twenty-four weeks pregnant showed the baby had normal anatomy and was "growing appropriately." Tr. 234, l. 8 – 235, l. 5. At twenty-eight weeks gestation, the baby was viable, meaning she "would have been able to survive outside of the womb." Tr. 236, l. 25 – 239, l. 13. While the pathologist did not conduct an autopsy on the unborn baby, she testified that the "fetus did not appear to be abnormally developed" and she did not see any injuries or "other findings that would explain its death apart from the gunshot wound to its mother." Tr. 437, ll. 2-25.

² One of these firearms was a rifle with a nine inch barrel. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-230, it is unlawful to possess a "sawed off rifle" which is defined as a rifle with a barrel less than sixteen inches in length. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-210(d).

and brought them into the house. It took him about three trips to carry everything inside. Appellant placed the smaller firearms and accessories on the kitchen counter and his two larger rifle cases on the floor behind the couch in the living room. Tr. 456, l. 18 – 457, l. 7.

When Appellant came inside, Grace was in the living room watching television. She put on a movie the couple had planned to watch. While watching the movie, Appellant cleaned and inspected his firearms. When the movie ended, Grace asked Appellant if he wanted anything to eat. Appellant told her no at the time. About twenty minutes later, Appellant called Grace over to the couch where he was sitting and told her he was hungry. Grace said she would make him a “TV dinner.” About five to ten minutes later, Grace told Appellant his food was ready. Appellant got up from the couch and walked into the kitchen. Grace asked Appellant what kind of sauce he wanted and Appellant told her “Arby’s sauce.” Grace then said “something . . . sexually provocative.” Appellant turned around and picked up one of the guns that was on the kitchen counter. He raised the gun to his chest, pointed it at Grace, and pulled the trigger. Appellant mistakenly believed the gun was unloaded and “stupidly, did not look at the gun” before pulling the trigger. Tr. 457, l. 8 – 458, l. 7.

During his testimony, Appellant explained that he and Grace “both had a darker sense of humor.” At some point, Grace had asked Appellant “about using a gun during sex.” Appellant told her no, “that it was not something [he] could do during sex.” However, ever since then, it became a “joke” between the two to point guns at each other. Appellant explained that Grace “was turned on by it.” Tr. 461, l. 9 – 462, l. 3. When Appellant pointed the gun at Grace that night, it was not meant as a threat. He did it to make her happy after she said something sexually provocative to him. Tr. 463, ll. 11-17.

Appellant shot Grace with a Bersa .380. He had only had this firearm for about six months. It was not a gun he regularly carried. Rather, he usually kept this gun in his truck. The Bersa .380 was one of the firearms Appellant shot with his father that day. While Appellant and Grace were watching the movie, Appellant inspected and cleaned this firearm. He unloaded the firearm by “dropping the magazine” and checking to see if there was a round in the chamber. After making sure the gun “looked decent,” Appellant put it back together. He also loaded the magazine with eight cartridges. However, Appellant did not recall putting the magazine back into the gun or “racking it.” When Appellant picked the gun up to joke around with Grace, he did not think the magazine was in the firearm and did not confirm its absence before pulling the trigger. He mistakenly believed the gun was unloaded. Tr. 472, l. 4 – 475, l. 18.

After Appellant pulled the trigger, he “heard the gun go off.” It took a few seconds for Appellant to process what happened. Appellant saw Grace’s face change from “a happy smile to a face in pain and shock.” Grace “let out a scream” and fell to the floor. Appellant immediately dropped to the floor with her. Grace had previously passed out, but Appellant knew it was different this time. He ran to the living room and grabbed his phone. He then returned to Grace and started CPR. However, he quickly realized that he did not know what he was doing. “Out of instinct,” Appellant called his father. He told his father that he “accidentally shot Grace.” Appellant’s father told him to call 911. Appellant hung up, but then fumbled his phone. He recalled that he could not figure out how to get the keypad to appear on his phone. He finally called 911 and told the dispatcher that he accidentally shot his wife. See State’s Exhibit No. 2 (911 Call). Appellant tried to answer all of the dispatcher’s questions, but it was not long into the call that he looked at Grace and “realized that she was gone.” Tr. 458, l. 8 – 459, l. 21.

During the call, the dispatcher asked Appellant where the gun was located and Appellant told her it was next to him. The dispatcher told Appellant to move the gun to a different room so Appellant carried his firearms to the back bedroom. Tr. 459, l. 22 – 460, l. 3; See State’s Exhibit No. 2 (911 Call).

Appellant fully cooperated with law enforcement and gave a recorded statement and written statement to the police. Appellant’s testimony at trial was consistent with his statement to police. He told investigators that he and Grace “have this thing where they mess with each other” by pointing guns at each other. Appellant said that after Grace asked him what kind of sauce he wanted, he got up and saw the gun on the counter. He picked it up and pointed it at her and pulled the trigger. However, Appellant “thought the magazine had dropped,” meaning that the magazine was no longer in the weapon and that it was unloaded. Appellant explained that at the time he shot Grace, she was in the kitchen between him and the refrigerator. See Tr. 284, l. 4 – 287, l. 3; Tr. 300, ll. 2-8.

Within hours of the shooting, Appellant was charged with involuntary manslaughter. However, weeks later, Appellant was ultimately charged with murder after investigators interviewed individuals who were familiar with Appellant and Grace.³ These individuals, with the exception of one, maintained Appellant “exhibited good firearm safety.” Tr. 330, ll. 3-14. Some of these individuals testified at trial.

³ The trial court granted the state’s pretrial motion to exclude evidence that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter over Appellant’s objection.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter when there was evidence to support the charge.

Relevant Facts

During the charge conference, Appellant requested the trial court instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter as to both counts of murder. Tr. 486, l. 21 – 487, l. 10.

The assistant solicitor objected to the charge. She maintained that there was no evidence to support either of the definitions of involuntary manslaughter established by our case law. She argued Appellant was “pointing and presenting” a firearm and pulled the trigger, which is an unlawful act that is both a felony and naturally tends to cause death or great bodily harm. She asserted, “Pointing a gun at someone and pulling the trigger is unlawful in any instance that I can think of, other than self-defense.” She also argued that “whether the defendant intended to harm the victim is irrelevant.” The solicitor cited numerous cases in support of her argument. Tr. 487, l. 12 – 490, l. 24.

Defense counsel emphasized that the standard to obtain a jury instruction is whether there is any evidence to support the charge and that the court is not concerned with the weight of the evidence. She argued the solicitor had “a misunderstanding of the pointing and presenting law in South Carolina.” Citing In re Spencer R., 387 S.C. 517, 692 S.E.2d 569 (Ct. App. 2010) and South Carolina Requests to Charge by Ralph King Anderson, Jr., counsel argued “there is a threatening manner requirement” for pointing and presenting. She emphasized, “We are not a strict liability pointing and presenting state despite what the State may feel.” Because there was

no evidence that Appellant pointed and presented a firearm in a threatening manner, counsel concluded Appellant was entitled to a jury instruction on involuntary manslaughter. Tr. 491, l. 1 – 493, l. 7.

The trial court found there was no evidence to support a charge on involuntary manslaughter and, accordingly, refused to instruct the jury on this lesser included offense. The court ruled there was no evidence to support the first definition of involuntary manslaughter because “pointing and presenting a firearm at someone is a felony, and pointing a gun at someone . . . would naturally tend to cause death or great bodily harm if a gun were fired.” The court also ruled there was no evidence to support the second definition because pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410, pointing a firearm, whether loaded or unloaded, at another person, is unlawful. The court noted that while there are exceptions to this law when one is acting in self-defense or for theatrical productions, neither exception applied in this case. The court cited State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 633 S.E.2d 898 (2006), in support of its ruling. Tr. 497, l. 25 – 500, l. 13.

Defense counsel noted his objection to the court’s ruling and briefly stated that this case is “factually distinct from the Reese case that you are relying on.” Tr. 500, l. 15 – 501, l. 22.

Standard of Review

“The law to be charged must be determined from the evidence presented at trial.” State v. Crosby, 355 S.C. 47, 51, 584 S.E.2d 110, 112 (2003) (citing State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 525 S.E.2d 511 (2000)). “A trial court should refuse to charge a lesser included offense only where there is no evidence the defendant committed the lesser rather than the greater offense.” Id. “In determining whether the evidence requires a charge on a lesser included offense, we view the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant.” State v. Williams, 427 S.C. 148, 156, 829 S.E.2d 702, 706 (2019) (citing State v. Byrd, 323 S.C. 319, 321, 474 S.E.2d 430, 431 (1996)).

“A trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence.” State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 848, 849 (1993) (citing Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 410 S.E.2d 572 (1991) and State v. Lee, 298 S.C. 362, 380 S.E.2d 834 (1989)).

Discussion

The trial court erred by refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter when there was evidence to support the charge.

“If there is any evidence warranting a charge on involuntary manslaughter, then the charge must be given.” State v. Reese, 370 S.C. 31, 36, 633 S.E.2d 898, 900 (2006) (citing State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 (2004) and State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 (1999)). “Involuntary manslaughter is the killing of another without malice and unintentionally while engaged in either: (1) an unlawful act not amounting to a felony and not naturally tending to cause death or great bodily harm; or (2) a lawful act with reckless disregard for the safety of others.” Id. (citing State v. Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. 372, 605 S.E.2d 522 and State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996)); See also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-60 (stating a person charged with involuntary manslaughter may be convicted only upon a showing of criminal negligence “defined as the reckless disregard of the safety of others”). “Recklessness is a state of mind in which the actor is aware of his or her conduct, yet consciously disregards a risk which his or her conduct is creating.” State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 317, 764 S.E.2d 511, 518 (2014) (Pleicones, J., dissenting) (quoting State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 571, 647 S.E.2d 144, 167 (2007)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“It is unlawful for a person to present or point at another person a loaded or unloaded firearm.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410; See Reese, 370 S.C. at 36, 633 S.E.2d at 900. In In re

Spencer R., 387 S.C. 517, 520, 692 S.E.2d 569, 571 (Ct. App. 2010), this Court noted, “Neither the South Carolina Code nor South Carolina case law squarely define the phrase ‘to present.’” “However, our supreme court has previously determined what actions amount to presenting a firearm.” Id. “In State v. Reese, the supreme court held Reese was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter instruction because he ‘presented a firearm’ when he took out a gun and waved it in the victim’s face.” Id. (citing Reese, 370 S.C. at 36, 633 S.E.2d at 900-01). “Likewise, in State v. Cabrera-Pena, the court found the defendant’s conduct in showing the victim his pistol as a means of intimidation and forcing her to walk towards a pickup truck constituted a felony of either pointing or presenting a firearm or kidnapping, and thereby precluded an involuntary manslaughter charge.” Id. at 520-21, 692 S.E.2d at 571 (citing Cabrera-Pena, 361 S.C. at 381, 605 S.E.2d at 526-27).

In In re Spencer R., this Court concluded that the “implication from the court’s discussion in Reese and Cabrera-Pena is that either ‘waving’ or ‘showing’ a gun at someone in a direct, actively aggressive, and threatening manner constitutes presenting a firearm.” 387 S.C. at 521, 692 S.E.2d at 572. After considering the various definitions of the “infinite ‘to present’” and “similar statutes criminalizing the presenting of a firearm” in other jurisdictions, this Court defined the phrase “to present” in § 16-23-410 as “to offer to view in a threatening manner, or to show in a threatening manner.” Id. at 521-23, 692 S.E.2d at 572.

Spencer R. was convicted of pointing and presenting a firearm at Angela B., Brett C., and Mrs. L., Angela B.’s mother. This Court held there was a “lack of evidence establishing Spencer R. intended to present a firearm at Brett C. and Mrs. L.” because “no testimony proved Spencer R. intended to specifically threaten Brett C. and Mrs. L. when Spencer R. was sitting on his property, and Mrs. L. admitted Spencer R. did not even turn toward her or see her when she

initially observed Spencer R. holding his assault rifle.” Id. at 523, 692 S.E.2d at 573. However, the Court held there was sufficient evidence in the record to support Spencer R.’s conviction as to Angela B. because the evidence demonstrated Spencer R. “deliberately intended to show his rifle at Angela B. in a threatening manner.” Id. at 523-24, 692 S.E.2d at 573.

Based on this Court’s holding in In re Spencer R., Appellant was not pointing and presenting a firearm as the state argued at trial and as the trial court found. Appellant testified that he did not point and present the firearm at Grace to threaten her. Rather, he did it to make her “happy” based on the ongoing joke the two shared. Tr. 463, ll. 14-17. Appellant maintained that Grace was sexually “turned on by it” and “wanted” Appellant to engage in such conduct. Tr. 461, ll. 9-19. Appellant also testified that he did not intend to hurt Grace or Scarlet, their unborn baby, that night. Tr. 463, ll. 18-20. His testimony was corroborated by his statement to his father that he “accidentally shot Grace” and his statement to the 911 dispatcher that he “accidentally shot his wife.” Appellant further testified that his actions were “dumb and careless” and that he “stupidly assumed” the firearm was unloaded when he pointed it at Grace and pulled the trigger. Tr. 463, ll. 3-25.

As defense counsel argued at trial, this case is easily distinguishable from Reese. 370 S.C. 31, 633 S.E.2d 898. In Reese, the defendant called his estranged wife, Teresa, fifty-one times while she was out with friends. Id. at 34, 633 S.E.2d at 899-900. He then showed up at her parents’ house where she was living at the time and waited for Teresa to return. Id. When Teresa arrived home around 2:00 am, she and Reese briefly talked outside while standing on the sidewalk in front of her parents’ home. Id. at 35, 633 S.E.2d at 900. When Teresa’s mother went outside to check on Teresa a few minutes later, she found her lying on the sidewalk. Id. There was blood running down the side of her ear. Id. “Reese admitted to shooting Teresa.

However, he stated that he did not go to her house to kill her. According to Reese, he was upset and crying while talking to Teresa. He pulled the gun out and told Teresa he was going to kill himself. When Teresa tried to talk him out of killing himself, Reese was ‘moving the gun back and forth as a reaction.’ Reese stated he did not know why the gun went off because he thought both of the gun’s safeties were on.” Id. Our Supreme Court held Reese was not entitled to an involuntary manslaughter charge because “there is no doubt that Reese was *presenting* a firearm when he took the gun out and began waving it around. Therefore, Reese was pointing and presenting a firearm, a felony, which would preclude an involuntary manslaughter charge.” Id. at 36, 633 S.E.2d at 901 (emphasize in original).

Significantly, in Reese, the defendant was waving what he knew was a loaded gun in his estranged wife’s face in a threatening manner after he showed up uninvited at her parents’ house in the middle of the night. However, in this case, Appellant was engaging in an ongoing joke with his fiancée, with whom he was in a committed and loving relationship, after she made a sexually provocative comment to him in the kitchen of their shared home. Appellant testified that such conduct made Grace happy. Moreover, Appellant mistakenly believed the firearm was unloaded.

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