RECEIVED

Jul 22 2026

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LAURENS COUNTY
Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001288

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

CAMRIN JAY SMITH,APPELLANT.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

P. SANDERS LINKER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0918

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The mere fact that Appellant claims he did not know the gun was loaded should not defeat this notion where he admitted to intentionally pulling the trigger—especially when such a claim is assessed against the uncontroverted testimony regarding the various safety features of the Bersa

⁶ Notably, Appellant appears to abandon the argument made at trial that the statute has a “threatening manner requirement” for both presenting and/or pointing a firearm. (See Tr. 491–492). Moreso, it appears Appellant attempts to conflate the two disjunctives.

Thunder .380 and Appellant's experience with guns and safe gun practices. *Cf. Shank*, 447 S.C. at 572, 902 S.E.2d at 408; *Sullivan*, *supra*. In this case, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in refusing to support a charge of involuntary manslaughter that was wholly unsupported by the facts in this case. Rather, the facts only supported the conclusion that Appellant was guilty of murder.

This Court should affirm.

II. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter where such evidence was irrelevant to the issues at trial and would otherwise confuse or mislead the jury, and where such limitations on evidence did not violate Appellant's constitutional rights

Appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion by excluding evidence that Appellant was initially charged with involuntary manslaughter, not murder, pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE. He also argues this error was a violation of his constitutional rights to present a complete defense and to cross-examine witnesses against him. Respondent contends that such a fact was irrelevant, otherwise inadmissible under Rule 403, and the exclusion of such could not have affected Appellant's constitutional rights. Even assuming error, such error would undoubtedly be harmless given Appellant's own admission that he intentionally picked up a gun, intentionally pointed it at his pregnant fiancé, and intentionally pulled the trigger. This Court should affirm.

A. Relevant Facts

Following jury selection, the State moved to exclude "any mention of . . . the Defendant being charged with involuntary manslaughter before the charges were upgraded to murder[.]" noting that Appellant was originally charged as such before the investigation was fully complete. On the law, the solicitor argued that this original charging decision was not relevant and thus excludable under Rule 402; and otherwise excludable under Rule 403 on the basis that such information would confuse the jurors. The solicitor also noted that the issue of involuntary manslaughter would be better addressed at the charging conference following the close of evidence, where the issue of the charge could be assessed on its merits. (Tr. 113–114).

Appellant agreed generally on saving the charging issue for later, but argued that eliciting the fact that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter was important for highlighting deficiencies in the investigation. Appellant further argued that eliciting such facts was

important for preserving his trial and due process rights under the constitution. In reply, the solicitor again focused on the fact that the original charging decision is not relevant for the charges being tried at that point and getting into what Appellant was originally charged with would mislead the jury. (Tr. 114–115). The trial court gave its ruling as follows:

I think this issue turns on 403, and really it's always viewed . . . in the light of unfair prejudice to the Defendant, but I don't think that's what the law says. Unfair prejudice can . . . come about I mean, the State can be prejudiced as well . . . It is unfair and distinguished from legitimate impact of evidence, as in the outcome of the case. Unfair prejudice does not mean damage to a Defendant's case that results from legitimate probative force of the evidence rather than prejudiced evidence, which tends to suggest a decision on an improper basis. All evidence is meant to be prejudicial, it's only unfair prejudice, which must be scrutinized under the 403.

So . . . we've got a situation where I'm assuming these involuntary manslaughter warrants were drawn up *based upon the Defendant's own admission that he shot her, and it was an accident*. I can only assume that further investigation led law enforcement to present either to withdraw those warrants and serve warrants for murder, or to directly indict the case for murder.

You know, it's not lost on me that court doesn't have jurisdiction over a case until the grand jury passes upon the indictment. *So I think under 403, the mention of the involuntary manslaughter would confuse the issues, would be misleading to the jury*. And at least preliminarily, I'm going to grant the State's motion to limit any mention that those warrants were dismissed. Now, there . . . I guess, could be some situations where a door may be opened depending on how officers testify or . . . if we get to the point in the case where lesser included . . . are to be considered. Perhaps . . . it doesn't preclude any mention of involuntary manslaughter. *But I think, at least at the outset before any evidence has been presented the fact that these warrants were . . . drawn and . . . then either withdrawn or upgraded based upon further investigation. I . . . think that would be confusing, and I would limit that introduction under rule 403.*

And if the case unfolds and the evidence takes us another way, it may . . . become relevant at some point, but I don't think . . . I think the prejudicial effect is not substantially outweighed by the probative value. So I will grant the State's motion with regard to the dismissal of the involuntary manslaughter warrants.

(Tr. 116, ln. 5—Tr. 117, ln. 21) (emphasis added).

Later, during the cross-examination of one of the State's investigators, Appellant asked whether Appellant was arrested on November 26, 2023. He also asked whether Appellant was

charged with murder on December 19, 2023. The solicitor asked to approach, and the jury was excused. Back on the record, the solicitor objected to the question, arguing that it would elicit the excluded fact that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter. (Tr. 339–341).

Appellant countered that the door was opened at that point and that the investigator was obligated to give the jury the truth regarding the investigation at that point, and that such information went to reasonable doubt. The trial court ruled as follows:

Well, I think the focus is on the wrong issue. The focus is that the word “accident” has been used a lot. Accidental shooting. Accident . . . accident . . . accident. I think you are within your rights to ask now you believed or that it had been presented to law enforcement that this was an accident. I think you could ask him, “What led you to believe that this was murder and not accidental?” I think that’s a fair question, but in terms of arrest, . . . there’s a different standard to arrest somebody for something versus what we’re here today to get to. Whether this was a murder beyond a reasonable doubt, or perhaps involuntary manslaughter. I think that’s obviously where this is headed.

But . . . you know, *charges get changed all the time*. You know, for example, if somebody is arrested for a DUI, gets in . . . an accident with somebody and a person in the opposite car has no obvious visible injuries that would rise to the level of great bodily injury. But then they go get checked out at the hospital, the person is seen, the defendant is arrested for straight DUI. And then later on it’s determined, “Oh. Well, they had a ruptured spleen,” which is great bodily injury. *Then obviously that charge should be upgraded. And it’s not due to any nefarious conduct of the officers. It’s due to the evidence led to something else.*

I don’t know if they’ve reached the standard for proving malice, but that’s what we’re here for. I think the question you need to ask is . . . what they knew factually versus . . . at the time versus what was ascertained as the investigation progressed. . . . I think the focus is on the wrong area. So if you want to ask him about officers had been advised, or had been referred to as an accident . . . you know, that’s the issue.

(Tr. 342, ln. 3—Tr. 343, ln. 8) (emphasis added). Thus, the trial court declined to revisit its ruling excluding the fact that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter.

B. Discussion

“Relevant evidence” is defined as evidence “having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” *State v. Pagan*, 357 S.C. 132, 142, 591 S.E.2d 646, 651 (Ct. App. 2004) (citations omitted). Irrelevant evidence is inadmissible pursuant to Rule 402, and relevant evidence is further subject to Rule 403 which allows the trial court to exclude evidence if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading of the jury, or other reasons.

What Appellant was originally charged with is ultimately irrelevant because the investigation produced uncontested facts making involuntary manslaughter a wholly inappropriate charge, not to mention it being a charge totally unsupported by law as argued *supra*. The trial court properly recognized this in its analogy to someone being charged with a lesser “DUI” before officers later find out a person has serious injuries, whereupon the DUI charge is upgraded to reflect the new information or new evidence. Allowing inquiry into the fact that Appellant was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter does not help the jury decide the ultimate issue at trial—whether Appellant was guilty of murder, since the facts wholly failed to support the charge of involuntary manslaughter. In this way, not only was this evidence irrelevant, but offering it before the jury would needlessly confuse the issues at trial or otherwise mislead the jury. Thus, even if relevant, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in excluding the evidence under Rule 403. Appellant can show no abuse of discretion in this regard. Moreover, allowing such needless inquiry potentially draws too closely on the law’s protection of prosecutorial discretion.

See, e.g., State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 389, 377 S.E.2d 298, 300 (1989) (“[A]n initial decision by the prosecutor should not freeze future conduct, because the initial charges filed by a prosecutor may not reflect the extent to which an individual is legitimately subject to prosecution.”); *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 435 n.6, 735 S.E.2d 471, 479 n.6 (2012) (noting that a prosecutor “has discretion in choosing how to proceed with a case, including whether to prosecute in the first place and whether he brings it to trial or offers a plea bargain.”). Thus, as a matter of the rules of evidence and public policy, the trial court properly excluded this evidence.

As to Appellant’s constitutional claims, the constitutional right to present a complete defense and to cross-examine witnesses is not limitless. *State v. Cottrell*, 421 S.C. 622, 639, 809 S.E.2d 423, 433 (2017) (“The right to present a complete defense is violated by the exclusion of defense evidence pursuant to a state rule of evidence *only in rare circumstances.*”) (emphasis added, citation omitted); *State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000) (“The right to a meaningful cross-examination of an adverse witness is included in the defendant’s Sixth Amendment right to confront his accusers. . . . This does not mean, however, that trial courts conducting criminal trials lose their usual discretion to limit the scope of cross-examination.”) (citations omitted). As continually reinforced by the United States Supreme Court, “state and federal rulemakers have broad latitude under the Constitution to establish rules excluding evidence from criminal trials.” *United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 308 (1998); *see also Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683, 689–690 (1986); *Marshall v. Lonberger*, 459 U.S. 422, 438, n. 6 (1983); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302–303 (1973); *Spencer v. Texas*, 385 U.S. 554, 564, (1967) (all cited by *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 324 (2006)). Even relevant evidence is subject to reasonable restrictions. *Scheffer*, 523 U.S. at 308 (citing *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 410 (1988); *Rock v. Arkansas*, 483 U.S. 44, 55 (1987); *Chambers*, 410 U.S. at 295). Rules of

evidence “do not abridge an accused’s right to present a defense so long as they are not ‘arbitrary’ or ‘disproportionate to the purposes they are designed to serve.’” *Id.* (quoting *Rock*, 483 U.S. at 56). The federal right to present a complete defense is treated the same as a matter of state constitutional law. *See State v. Burgess*, 391 S.C. 15, 21–22, 703 S.E.2d 512, 515–16 (Ct. App. 2010).

As argued above, and noted in the standard of review, the trial court has broad discretion to apply and enforce the rules of evidence, including Rule 403; or in directing the scope of cross examination under Rule 611. Appellant’s briefing on these constitutional issues does little more than continue to contest the validity of the trial court’s evidentiary ruling. *See, e.g., State v. Rivera*, 402 S.C. 225, 245–46, 741 S.E.2d 694, 705 (2013) (“We emphasize Appellant does not challenge the legitimate purposes served by Rules 401, 402, or 403, SCRE. Nor does Appellant contend any of those evidentiary rules in and of themselves arbitrarily restrict his right to testify. Rather, Appellant claims the trial court arbitrarily misapplied those rules, and in committing that error of law, the trial court unconstitutionally prevented Appellant from testifying during his own trial.”). Appellant offers no argument on how Rule 403 “serve[s] no legitimate purpose” or how it is “disproportionate to the ends [it] [is] asserted to promote.” *Id.* at 245, 741 S.E.2d at 704–705 (quoting *Holmes*, 547 U.S. at 326). Furthermore, he cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion in limiting the scope of cross-examination. As such, he cannot show a violation of his fundamental right to present a complete defense or his right to cross-examine witnesses.

And because any error in this context would not be fundamental and therefore non-structural, this issue is subject to a harmless error inquiry. *Compare id.* at 246, 741 S.E.2d at 705 (“Most trial errors, even those which violate a defendant’s constitutional rights, are subject to harmless-error analysis.” (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 306–307 (1991)) *with id.* at

247, 741 S.E.2d at 705–706 (“The Supreme Court has found ‘an error to be structural, and thus subject to automatic reversal only in a very limited class of cases.’”) (cleaned up, citations omitted); *accord State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 537–39, 763 S.E.2d 22, 29–30 (2014) (applying harmless error analysis to Rule 403 issue); *State v. Gillian*, 360 S.C. 433, 454–57, 602 S.E.2d 62, 73–75 (Ct. App. 2004), *aff’d as modified*, 373 S.C. 601, 646 S.E.2d 872 (2007) (finding Confrontation Clause error harmless). Under the harmless error inquiry, preventing Appellant from eliciting the fact that he was originally charged with involuntary manslaughter would be harmless given his own admission that he intentionally picked up a gun, intentionally pointed it at Grace, and intentionally pulled the trigger—where such an admission precludes a finding that Appellant was innocent of murder *or* only guilty of the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter. Rather, as argued above, such an admission, combined with the rest of the evidence in this case (especially regarding Appellant’s inconsistencies—i.e. his lack of credibility—and testimony regarding his safe gun practices), supports the conclusion that Appellant was only guilty of murder.

This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the trial court should be affirmed.